P K Yonge Library of Florida History
MILITARY POSTS & FORTS PRIOR TO 1860

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>County</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Not Located</td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Sources &amp; Authors</td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Maps</td>
<td>4</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alachua County</td>
<td>6</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Baker County, Bay County</td>
<td>8</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Bradford County</td>
<td>9</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Brevard County</td>
<td>10</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Broward County</td>
<td>11</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Calhoun County</td>
<td>12</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Charlotte County</td>
<td>13</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Citrus County</td>
<td>14</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Clay County</td>
<td>15</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Collier County</td>
<td>16</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Columbia County</td>
<td>17</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Dade County</td>
<td>18</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>De Soto County</td>
<td>19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Dixie County</td>
<td>20</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Duval County</td>
<td>21</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Escambia County</td>
<td>23</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Flagler County</td>
<td>25</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Franklin County</td>
<td>26</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Gadsden County</td>
<td>27</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Gilchrist County</td>
<td>28</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Glades County</td>
<td>29</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Gulf County</td>
<td>30</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Hamilton County</td>
<td>31</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Hardee County</td>
<td>32</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Hendry County</td>
<td>33</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>County</td>
<td>Page</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>------------------------</td>
<td>------</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Hernando County</td>
<td>34</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Highlands County</td>
<td>35</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Hillsborough County</td>
<td>36</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Indian River County</td>
<td>37</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Jackson County</td>
<td>38</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Jefferson County</td>
<td>39</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Lafayette County</td>
<td>40</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Lake County</td>
<td>41</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Lee County</td>
<td>42</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Leon County</td>
<td>43</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Levy County</td>
<td>44</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Liberty County</td>
<td>46</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Madison County</td>
<td>47</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Manatee County</td>
<td>48</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Marion County</td>
<td>49</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Martin County</td>
<td>51</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Monroe County</td>
<td>52</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Nassau County</td>
<td>53</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Orange County</td>
<td>55</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Osceola County</td>
<td>56</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Okeechobee County</td>
<td>57</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Palm Beach County</td>
<td>58</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Pasco County</td>
<td>59</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Pinellas County</td>
<td>60</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Putnam County</td>
<td>61</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Polk County</td>
<td>62</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Santa Rosa County</td>
<td>63</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Sarasota County</td>
<td>64</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Seminole County</td>
<td>65</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>St. Johns County</td>
<td>67</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
MILITARY POSTS ETC, cont'd

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>County</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Sumter County</td>
<td>70</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Suwannee County</td>
<td>71</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Taylor County</td>
<td>72</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Union County</td>
<td>74</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Volusia County</td>
<td>75</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Wakulla County</td>
<td>77</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Walton County</td>
<td>78</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
LIST OF FORTS AND MILITARY POSTS ESTABLISHED IN FLORIDA PRIOR TO 1860, WHICH HAVE NOT BEEN LOCATED.

Fort Matthews Coconee River (Georgia?)
Moreno Point Reservation
Lancaster East Florida
Santa Fe Bridge Castle St. Augustine (should this be Alachua county or St. Johns?)

Fort Sherrard
Fort Sullivan East Florida Near Hillsborough River
Fort J. M. Smith (Camp Smith located near Fort Drane)
Fort Snelling
Fort Duquesne
Fort Tavern East Florida
Fort Atkinson Suwannee River

Landoniere's Camp (1664)
Caminado Bay Reservation
Camp Smith Near Fort Drane
Camp Triggs (Near Tampa?)

Camp Starvation Shown on Cotton Map 1862 Brevard County
Fort Bayard (Clay County) site of old Fort Fernando
Camp Augusta West Side of St. Johns River opposite Moccato (Williams 1837)

Fort St. Augustine Leon County
SOURCES AND AUTHORS CITED DURING RESEARCH
IN SECURING LIST OF MILITARY POSTS
ESTABLISHED IN FLORIDA PRIOR
TO 1860.

ARREDONDO "Spains Title to Georgia", Herbert Bolton’s
Translation with maps. (A)

American STATE PAPERS (Military Affairs, Vol. VII.) (U)

AMERICAN STATE PAPERS (Public Lands, Vol. VI.) (M)

AMERICAN STATE PAPERS (Indian Affairs, I. II.) (U)

ACTS FLORIDA LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL (1835-42) (U)

BILL, LEDYARD ("A Winter in Florida", 1868, Map) (M)

BRINTON, DANIEL GARRISON ("A Guide Book of Florida", 1871) (R)

BRINTON, DANIEL GARRISON ("Notes on the Florida Peninsula") (A)

BROWN, SGT. GEORGE M. ("Ponce De Leon Land") (A)

CAMPBELL, ROBERT L. ("Historical Sketches of Colonial Florida") (A)

CHAIRES, HON. McQUEEN (Letter at Museum Library) (M)

COE, CHARLES FRANCIS ("Red Patriots") (R)

COHEN, MEYER M. ("Florida and the Campaigns") (Map) (R)

CONNER, JEANETTE THURBER (Pedro Menendez) (Maps) (A)

DAVIS, FREDERICK ("History of Jacksonville and Vicinity") (A)

DICKINSON, JONATHAN (The Quaker) ("Gods Protecting Providence") (M)

DICKINSON, JONATHAN (The Quaker) ("Deliverance of Robert Barrow") (A)

DRAKE, SAMUEL G. ("Book of the Indians of N. A.") (Map, 1841) (M)
(Eighth Edition with Map, 1840, prepared by War Dep.)
Page 2. (Authors & Sources)

DICKINSON, J. J. ("Confederate History Florida") (With map of Florida from official War atlas, 1861) (A)

DEWHURST, Wm. W. ("History of St. Augustine") (A)

EAGAN, DENNIS ("The Florida Settler", 1869, with map, 1855 by the Commissioner of Immigration (Phamplet) (M)

ELLIOIT, E. J. ("Encyclopedia of Florida", 1883) (A)

FAIRBANKS, GEORGE R. (Sketches of Old St. Augustine") (A)

FAIRBANKS, GEORGE R. (School History of Florida") (A)

FLORIDA HISTORICAL SOCIETY, BULLETINS, Maps.

GARDNER, (?) ("Dictionary of the U. S. Army", 1858) (R)

GALES AND SEATON'S REGISTER (Vol XII) (M)

GIDDINGS, JOSHUA R. (The Abolitionist) ("Exiles of Florida") (A)

GONZALES, THOS. A. ("Life and Adventures in the Everglades") (R)

GREEN, EDWIN L. ("School History of Florida"), Maps (R)

HAWKS ("Florida Gazetteer"), 1878. (M)

IRVING, Theo. ("Conquest of Florida") (M)

IVES, Lt. J. C. ("Florida South of Tampa Bay", Map, 1856) (Map compiled and notes collected from official maps and surveys, by order of Jefferson Davis., Van Nostrand, Pub., New York, 1858) (Davis Map, 1858) (Library of J. C. Yonge, Pensacola)

KENNY, M., S. J. (Romance of Florida", Maps, 1935) (A)

LAND OFFICE GENERAL REPORT, 1858, Map 1857 (By J. D. Westcott, entitled "The Whole State, Florida") (M)
LAND OFFICE TOWNSHIP PLATS (T. M. Rickards Coll.) (M)

KNIGHT, Julian L. ("Georgia Landmarks, Memorials and Legends") (Byrd Printing Company, Atlanta, 1913).

LANIER, SIDNEY ("Florida Travel Guide", 1869 Map) (M)

McDUFFIE LILLIE ("Lure of the Manatee") (A)

McKINNON, JOHN C. (History of Walton County)

HEITMAN, F. B. ("Dictionary and Register of the U. S. Army")
1903 - Vol. II p. 475 et seq., Govt. Printing Office. (R)

NORTON, LEDYARD ("Handbook of Florida", 1892, Maps) (M)

PHELPS-FORRY LETTERS (1837) (M)

POTTER, WOODBOURNE ("The War in Florida", Map, 1836) (R)

RANSON, ROBERT ("Memoir of Capt. Burnham")

RERICK, ROWLAND H. ("Memoirs of Florida", 1902)

ROBERTS, Wm. ("Florida", 1763 with Jeffery's Map)
(Book Nook, Orlando)

SPRAGUE, JOHN T. ("The Origin, Progress and Conclusion of the Florida War," 1842) (R)

SENATE DOCUMENT No. 89, 62nd. Congress, 1st. Session, entitled "Drainage of the Everglades", Map of Florida South of Tampa Bay, 1856, issued in 1858. (This is the Davis map compiled by J. C. Ives)

WILLIAMS, John Lee ("A View of East Florida", Map, 1837) (R)

WILLIAMS, John Lee ("A View of West Florida", Map, 1828) (J. C. Yonge) (R)
MAPS AND VIEWS TO ACCOMPANY MESSAGES AND DOCUMENTS OF THE PRESIDENT

(1855-56, Florida, The Whole State, showing the progress of the U. S. Survey, Senate Doc. # 5, 3rd. Session - 34th. Congress)(See also Document # 1)

OFFICIAL COUNTY MAP, ALACHUA COUNTY (1876 - In Possession of Robert Hardee, C.E., Gainesville, Florida)

ARREDONDO (Maps in "Spains Title to Georgia", Translation by Herbert Bolton) (M)

BURGESS AND HONOURS MAP (M. M. Cohen's "Florida and The Campaigns", 1836, folded)

BUREAU OF ETHNOLOGY, U.S. ("Handbook of the American Indians") (Vol. II p. 122)

COAST SURVEY, U.S. (Charts showing progress of 1858 - 1860 - 1864.) (M)

COLTON, C. B. (Map, 1856, folded in pamphlet "The Florida Settlers") (Dennis Eagan, Comm. Immigration) (M)

COLTON, C. B. (Map, 1850 in Colton's Atlas, 1860) (M)


JEFFERSON DAVIS MAP (1858 - compiled by Lt. J. C. Ives to accompany his report to Jefferson Davis, Sec. of War, "Florida South of Tampa Bay") (M)

DICKINSON, J. J. ("Confederate States History", Florida volume, folded Map, 1861, Official War Atlas) (M)

FISK & RUSSELL (Map, 1855 in "Ramblers Guide to Florida", 1868)

HERLINE, E. (Map of the St. Johns River district in "Handbook of Florida", Daniel G. Brinton, 1858) (R)

JOHNSON'S ATLAS FLORIDA MAP (1850) (M)
GENERAL LAND OFFICE MAP (1857) (By J. H. Westcott "The Whole State", in report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office, Dept of the Interior, 1857) (Pamphlet with folded Map) (M)

WESTCOTT, J. H. ("The Whole State", 1855, showing the progress of the U. S. Survey. Senate Ex. Documents # 1, 34th Congress, 1st. Session. "Maps and Views to accompany Messages and Documents of the President"). (Boards Etc.) (M)
(Also Document # 5 of the 3rd. Session)

MACKAY, CAPT. JOHN and LT. J. E. Blake (Topographical Engineers, U. S. Army, compiled in 1839 by order of Col. Zachary Taylor) (St. Augustine Library)

TOPOGRAPHICAL ENGINEERS U. S. MAP OF 1846 (in part) also of 1856 in Part) (A)

TANNER'S ATLAS (Florida Map, 1850) (M)

WALLACE MAP (In Barrs' "East Florida Loyalists") (M)

WILLIAMS, JOHN LEE (1837) (Folded map in "View of East Florida") (R)

MARTIN, COL. LAURENCE (Map in Kenny's "Romance of the Floridas")

KEY TO LETTER SYMBOLS USED

(U) University of Florida Library, Gainesville
(M) Museum Library, University of Florida, Gainesville
(R) Rollins College Library, Winter Park
(A) Albertson Public Library, Orlando
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860
(ALACHUA COUNTY)

CLARKE
(5 miles west of Gainesville on the old Stringfellow plantation, Est. 1836.)
(Top. Engrs. Map, 1856) ON OCILLA RIVER

CRANE
(At Rochelle) (Drakes Map, 1840) ON LAKE PITHLACHOCO

CROOM
(Two miles north of Micanopy) (Florida Historical Society Bulletin, ap. "Jacksonville Courier" of December 31, 1835)

DEFIANCE
(At Micanopy) (ASPMA, VII, 217)

ELEVEN - EAST FLORIDA
(Near L. Pithlachoco) (Newmans L.) (Lat. 29 45' Long. 82 14') (Heitman)

GAINES
(At Gainesville) (Heitman) (Note: This latter is unsupported by my research. Chaffer)

GILLELAND
(At old Newmansville) (Colton's Map, 1850 and ASPMA, VII, 299)

GILLESPIE
(c. 3 miles east of Old Newmansville)
(Williams "East Florida" Map, 1837)

HARLLEE
(4 miles north of Waldo on the Santa Fe river
(Mackay & Blake, 1839)

MICANOPY
(Ft. Defiance) (Drake's Map, 1840) AT Micanopy

MILLS
(Near LaCrosse, ten miles from Newmansville)
(Heitman)

NANCY
(South edge of Gainesville at Boulware Springs.)
(Buchholz, "History of Alachua County", statement of Mr. George Chamberlain of Micanopy, whose foster father Mr. Bud Higginbotham and his neighbors built and occupied the blockhouse here during the Indian troubles of 1856-8. It was named for the wife of the builder, Mrs. Nancy Higginbotham)

FORD - 7 MILES NORTH OF Micanopy
ALACHUA COUNTY Cont'd.

NEWNANS FORT  
(North of Lake Pithlachoco - Newmans Lake) 
(One mile south of Windsor) (FHSP Vol. IX. 
No. 3, 1931)

RUSSELL  
(On Oklawaha river near Island Grove) 
(Lat. 29 28’ Long. 82 08’) (Mackay & 
Blake, 1839)

SANTA CRUZ  
(Near La Crosse) (Arredondo's Map) (Also 
Kenny p. 221)

SEVEN - EAST  
FLORIDA  
(Micanopy) (Lat. 29 30’ Long. 82 29’) 
(Heitman)

SIX - EAST  
FLORIDA  
(Near Island Grove in Lat. 29 28’ Long. 
82 08’) (Heitman)

TARVER  
(Tarvers) (4 miles east-northwest of 
Gainesville at Alachua Sink.) (Official 
Alachua County map, 1876) and (Williams 
"East Florida" p. 250)

WALKER  
(5 miles south of Arredondo Station) 
(Alachua County Map, 1876) (Mackay & Blake, 
1839) (Lat. 29 31’ Long. 82 35’) 
(Heitman)

WINDER  
(Between Ft. Drane and Ft. Harlee) 
(ASPMA, VII, 832)

WACAHOTA - (SEE UNDER LEVY COUNTY)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(BAKER COUNTY)

EIGHTEEN - EAST FLORIDA
(Near Sanderson in Lat. 30 18' Long. 82 10') (Heitman)

MONIAC
(At Hogans Ferry on St. Marys river near Baxter, Georgia) (Drakes Map, 1840)

NORTHS STATION
(Probably north of Georgia line) (Drake's Map, 1840) (Sprague notes this as a post in 1841)

BAY COUNTY

OOKED ISLAND RESERVATION - ON ST. ANDREW'S SOUND - ON LONG POINT OF LAND BETWEEN THE SOUND AND GULF OF MEXICO,

HURRICANE ISLAND RESERVATION - ST. ANDREWS BAY
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(BRADFORD COUNTY)

SANTA FE TOLOSA (Near Brooker on the north bank of the Santa Fe river) (Arredondo's Map)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(BREVARD COUNTY)

ANN D R
(At the "Haulover") (Irving's "Conquest of Florida") ON INDIAN RIVER

ANN

CANAVERAL
(French Fort) (Est., October, 1565) (Fairbanks, "Antiquities of Old St. Augustine" pp 85-7)

HARNEY
(Near Heath, Est., 1837) (Williams, probably)

ST. ANN
(In center of Township 19 south, Range 35E)
(Kimber, "A Late Expedition to the Gates of St. Augustine", 1744 (London) (Roberts and Jeffery's Map, 1763)

ST. LUCIE
(Lucy, Santa Lucia, Sta. Lucia de Canaveral)
(At Cape Canaveral) (Roberts, Jeffery's Map, 1763)

SANTA LUCIE
DE CANAVERAL
(St. Lucie, St. Lucy) (Near Cape Canaveral)
(Arredondo's Map)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(BROWARD COUNTY)

LAUDERDALE
(Slightly over a mile from the mouth of New river, on the south bank of the west branch.) (Ives)

OLD FORT LAUDERDALE
(Head New River Inlet, now town of that name)

(Slightly over a mile from the mouth of New river, on the north bank of the west branch.) (Ives)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(CALHOUN COUNTY)

CHIPOLA

(Lat. 30° 45' Long. 85° 03') (Near Chipola, on the east bank of the Chipola river) (Coe)

Ston Fort.

Near Apalachicola River S.W. of Blountstown. War Dept Map 1863

Compiled by Bureau Engineers.
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(Charlotte County)

CALOS  (Blockhouse and Presidio) (At San Antonio Mission, Est. 1567.) (Rherick, Rowland H., in "Memoirs of Florida" p. 52) (Kenny, M. "Romance of Florida", Maps.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(CITRUS COUNTY)

BRODAX

(Near Floral City) (Cohen) (Near the Checkocho River)

COOPER

(Three miles west of Floral City, established by Major Charles Cooper's Battalion of Georgia Volunteers, March 1836) (Burgess & Honours Map, in Cohens "Florida and the Campaigns", 1836) (Vide Williams Map, 1837)

HALLIMAN

(Ft. Holloman, Ft. McLemore) (South bank of the Withlacochee, three miles north of Citronelle P. O.) (Williams Map, 1837) Lat. 29° Long 82° 45'

MCLEMORE

(Ft. Holloman, Hallman) (Near Citronelle) (Drake, 1840 edition, IV. 91)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(CLAY COUNTY)

ELEVEN
(Near Lake Geneva P. O.) (Drake's Map, 1840)

FOURTEEN - EAST FLORIDA
(At the head of Kingsley Pond near Kingsley P. O.) (Lat. 30 02' Long. 82 02' (Heitman)
(Drake's Map, 1840)

GAREYS FERRY
(Ft. Green, Black Creek Arsenal, Ft. Heileman)
(Near Middleburg) (Mackay & Blake, 1839)

GREEN
(At the north end of the arsenal, at Black Creek) (Heitman)

HEILEMAN
(Garey's Ferry, Ordnance Depot, Arsenal,
Ft. Green) (at the fork of Black Creek near Middleburg) (Mackay & Blake 1839)

POOPA
(Pupo, St. Francis de Poppa, San Francisco de Pupo) (On St. Johns river opposite Picolata) (Roberts, Jeffery's Map, 1763)

SAN FRANCISCO DE PUPO
(Ft. Poppa, Ft. St. Francis de Poppa) (Opposite Picolata.) (Arrendondo's Map, "Spain's Title to Georgia")

SANDERSON
(Near Garey's Ferry, Lat. 30 05' Long. 81 55')
Heitman and Coe's list of Florida Forts in "Red Patriots"

VAN COURTLAND
(At head of Kingsley Pond) (Drake's Map)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(COLLIER COUNTY)

DOANE  (c. two miles west of Lake Trafford) (Davis Map, 1858.)

SIMON DRUM  (8 miles west of Immokalee) (Ives, Davis Map, 1858.)

OLD FORT FOSTER  (c. 16 miles southwest of Immokalee) (Sprague's Map & Davis Map, 1858.)

KAEIS  (Keas, Keays, Keys, Keyes) (Lat. 26° 15' Long. 81° 20') (c. 10 miles south of Immokalee.) (Davis Map.)

CAMP ROGERS  (Near Deep Lake, Est., 1857) (Gonzalez)

CAMP SCOTT  (About 15 miles south of Sam Jones Old Town) (Westcott's Map, 1855.)

SIMON DRUM (2)  (Near Immokalee) (Davis Map, 1858)

HOWELL  (10 miles east of Everglades City) (Colton's Map, 1855.)

OAKLAND FORT - FIVE MILES FROM FORT DRANE
### FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

**COLUMBIA COUNTY**

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Fort Name</th>
<th>Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>ALLIGATOR</td>
<td>(2 miles east of Lake City) (Phelps-Forry Letters.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>FIFTEEN</td>
<td>(Near High Springs) (ASPMA, VII, 848.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>NINETEEN -</td>
<td>(Approximate bearings estimated by Heitman to be Lat. 30° 20' Long. 82° 29' would place the site of this post near Jefferson P. O.) (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>EAST FLORIDA</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SIXTEEN</td>
<td>(About 6 miles south of Lake City) (Drake's Map, 1840.)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
### FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

#### (DADE COUNTY)

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td><strong>BANKHEAD</strong></td>
<td>(On Key Biscayne) (Coast Survey Map, 1860.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>CARLOS</strong></td>
<td>(Blockhouse &amp; Presidio) (On Bahama Channel) (Connor's &quot;Pedro Menendez&quot;, Maps.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>DALLAS</strong></td>
<td>(North bank of Miami river at its mouth) (Davis Map, 1858, Ives Report p. 20.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>HARRELL</strong></td>
<td>(At intersection of Dade, Monroe and Collier counties, head of Alcotopa river.) (Davis Map, 1856.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>HENRY</strong></td>
<td>(Near Redlands P. O.) (Top. Engrs., 1856 and Westcott, 1855.)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

---

VIRGINIA KEY RESERVATION - KEY BISCAYNE BAY
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(DE SOTO COUNTY)

OGDEN

(Ft. and Camp) (Near Ogden in Lat. 27° 05', Long. 81° 58') (Sprague, p. 298) (Bearings from Heitman.)

WHITTLE, CAMP (ON PLACE CREEK)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(DIXIE COUNTY)

DABNEY
(Near Oldtown on the west bank of the Suwannee river - on the Dabney Plantation)
(ASPMA, VII, 295.)

FOURTEEN - MIDDLE FLA.
(On California Creek in Lat. 29 36' Long. 83 15') (This position only approximate from orders for its founding, q. v. Heitman.)

GRIFFIN
(On the Suwannee river 8 miles from its mouth.) (Heitman.)

GRIFFIN
(c. 3 miles south of Eugene) (Drakes Map, 1840.)

MCCRAB
(4 miles northwest of Ft. Fanning) (Drakes Map, 1840.)

MCCRABB
(At Suwannee) (Heitman.)

WOOL
(West bank of Suwannee, 10 miles from its mouth near Shelton.) (Drakes Map, 1840.)
(Lat. 29 25' Long. 83 03') (Heitman.)
FLORIDA PORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(DUVAL COUNTY)

BABBITT ISLAND
(Lat. 30 22' Long. 81 39') (Heitman.)
(Near mouth of the St. Johns river) (Heitman.)

BATTARD ISLAND
(Lat. 30 22' Long. 81 39') (Batton Island?)
(Land Office Map 1883.)

BATTLE ISLAND
(Opposite Mayport) (Vide, Ft. San Juan)
(Est. ante. 1839.)

CAROLINE
(At foot of St. Johns Bluff, Est. 1564)
(Later named San Mateo and St. Matthias)
(Fairbanks, 1858.)

ELENA
(St. Elena) (On Talbot Island) (Arredondo.)

GEORGE
(North end of Ft. George Island, north of mouth of St. Johns river) (Williams, 1837.)

HORSE GUARDS
(On beach opposite East Mayport) (Kimber, Edward "A Late Expedition to the Gates of St. Augustine on Florida", London, 1744, p. 20.)

JACKSONVILLE
(At Jacksonville, northeast corner of Ocean and Monroe streets) (Davis, "History of Jacksonville" p. 76.)

LOUTHERS
(North of Jacksonville, Est. 1837, August, ASPMA VII.)

MANDARIN
(Blockhouse at Mandarin) (ASPMA VII, 847.)

ST. GEORGE
(North end of St. George Island) (Kimber, p. 9.)

ST. MATTHIAS
(San Mateo, Caroline, Charlesfort) (Kimber, "A Late Expedition Etc.", 1744 p. 12.)

San Juan

San Juan
(San Mateo, Caroline, Matthias) (On the south bank of the St. Johns nine miles from St. George) (Roberts, Jefferys Map.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(Duval County Cont'd.)

SAN JUADEL PEURTO (On Batton Island) (Kimber.)

SAN JUAN (Little Talbot Island, northwest of Mayport) (Jonathon Dickinson.)

SAN MATEO (Ft. Caroline, Ft. St. Matthias, Ft. San Juan) (At the foot of the left bank of the St. Johns river about 6 miles from its mouth) (Roberts.)

SAN NICHOLAS (About one mile south of South Jacksonville station) (Barr's "East Florida.")

STALLINGS (On Davis Creek near Bayard) (FHSB, IX, 2 p. 137-9.)

ST. JOHNS BLUFF, BATTERY-MOUTH OF ST. JOHN'S RIVER
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(ESCAMBIA COUNTY)

BARRANCAS (Ft. San Carlos de Barrancas, or Ft. St. Charles at Barrancas, Est. 1698) (Dunn, W. E., University of Texas Bulletin 1705 pp 171-184)

CARLOS DE BARRANCAS (Near the present Ft. Barrancas, also "San Carlos de Barrancas"). (Williams Map in his "West Florida", 1698.)

BROWN CAMP (At Ft. Pickens) (Heitman.)

CENTRE BATTERY (West of the mouth of Pensacola Bay near Ft. McRae and opposite Fort Pickens.)

CLINCH (On Bayou Chico, 3 miles west of old Pensacola, Est. 1840) (Williams "West Florida," 1828.)

CULLUM BATTERY (At Ft. Pickens, Heitman, F. B.)

FORT AT FOSTERS BANK (In Pensacola Bay. Appendix to Gales and Seatons Register, Vol. XII, P.XV.) and (Heitman.)

GEORGE (At Pensacola on Gage Hill) (Williams "West Florida," 1827.)

McRAE (West of the Pass to Escambia Bay) (U. S. Coast Survey, 1860.)

MONTGOMERY (Near Pensacola, Lat., 30° 30' Long. 87° 15') (Heitman.)

PENSACOLA BLOCKHOUSE (Square of Ferdinand, later used as the Custom House) (Williams "West Florida," 1828.)

ST. BERNARD (In Pensacola) (Williams "West Florida.")

ST. GEORGE (St. Michael, San Miguel) (At Pensacola on Gage Hill) (Williams, "West Florida," 1828.)

ST. MICHAEL (San Miguel, St. George) (At Pensacola, Campbell.)

AUCHUSA, FORT (PENSACOLA BAY ENTRANCE) OLD INDIAN NAME

BARRANCAS NATIONAL CEMETERY - NORTH SIDE PENSACOLA BAY

FORT CHARLES - AT PENSACOLA BAY (WILLIAMS)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(Escambia County Cont'd.)

SAN BERNARDO (St. Bernard) (In Pensacola, on the Blakely road.) (Abbie M. Brooks, "Petals Plucked in Sunny Climes." p. 540.)

SAN CARLOS DE BARRANCAS (At Barrancas) (FSHB, XI. 1.)

SAN MIGUEL (In the northwest corner of old Pensacola) (U. S. Coast Survey Chart, 1858.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(FLAGLER COUNTY)

CABEN (Two miles west of St. Johns Park just within the lower hook of Crescent Lake) (Drake's Map, 1840.)

FULTON (On the right bank of Peleciers Creek near Matanzas) (Coe.)
FLORIDA Forts Established Prior To 1860

(Franklin County)

Ocklawaha (Near Apalachicola, Lat. 29° 45' Long. 84° 55') (Heitman.)

Flag Island Reservation (Entrance at St. George's Sound)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(GADSDEN COUNTY)

APALACHICOLA
(At Chattahoochee) (Roberts, 1763 and Mackay and Blake, 1839.) ON APALACHICOLA RIVER

APALACHICOLA
ARSENAL
(Near Chattahoochee) (Heitman, F. B.) ON APALACHICOLA

BARBOUR
(Four miles west of Greensboro.) APALACHICOLA RIVER NEAR

CHATTAHOOCHEE
ARSENAL
(At Chattahoochee) (Land Office Map, 1858.)

McCLELLAN
(On north bank of Taluga river near Sedalia) (Colton's Map, 1855.)

SCOTT
(Near Chattahoochee) (Williams "West Florida.")

HARLOTTE HARBOR RESERVATION AND DEFENSES
& CHATTahoochee ARSENAL
FLORIDA FORCES ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(GILCHRIST COUNTY)

NINE - EAST FLORIDA
(Pt. Fanning) (Lat. 29° 07' Long. 83° 08')
(Heitman.)

THIRTEEN - EAST FLORIDA
(Near Bell in Lat. 29° 47' Long 82° 49'.
(Heitman.)

WHITE
(On south bank of Sante Fe river two miles from its mouth) (Drake's Map, 1840)
(Mackay & Blake.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(GLADES COUNTY)

CENTER

(c. 2 miles south of Lake Fort on south bank of Tlathlopopkahatchee or Fisheating Creek.)
(Davis Map, 1858.) Near Lake Okeechobee

THOMPSON

(Near mouth of Lake Flirt.) (Ives Report to Jefferson Davis, 1858.) On Caloosahatchee River

Near Lake Flint
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(GULF COUNTY)

CREVECOEUR  (Just east of St. Joe Lights)  (ST JOSEPH'S BAY)  (Roberts, 1763.)  (FRENCH FORT 1719)
ST. JOSEPHS BANK  (Near St. Joe Light House)  (Roberts, 1763.)

ST. VINCENT ISLAND BATTERY
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(HAMILTON COUNTY)

CASS

(At White Springs (Mineral Springs)
(Phelps Eddy Letters, a transcript of which is at the Florida State Museum.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(HARDEE COUNTY)

CHICOVIDA
CHOKKONIKLA (Just above the confluence of Payne's Creek and Peas Creek) (Davis Map, 1858.)
Also spelled (Chokkonika)
GREEN (Near the Ft. Green P. O.) (Davis Map, 1858.)
HARTSUFF (7 miles east southeast of Ft. Green.) (Davis Map, 1858.)
MYAKKA (c. 7 miles west southwest of Ft. Green P. O.) (Davis Map, 1858.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(HENDRY COUNTY)

T. B. ADAMS  
(6 miles west of Thompson) (Jefferson Davis Map, 1858.)

DENAUD  
(Deynaud) (Near the present Denaud P. O. on a spot of high land two miles from the landing) (Gonzalez, P. 48) (Ives, Davis Map, 1858.)

NEW DENAUD  
(This post was established two miles southwest of Ft. Denaud) (Gonzalez, pp. 48-9.)

HARNEY  
(Near Olga, Est., 1839 on Caloosahatchee river) (Sprague.)

SHACKLEFORD  
(About 25 miles south southwest of the southeast point of Lake Okeechobee.) (Davis Map, 1858.)

SIMMONS  
(About 6 miles southwest of Denaud on the south bank of the Caloosahatchee river.) (Davis Map, 1858.)
FLORIDA Forts Established Prior to 1860

(Hernando County)

ANNUTTEELIGA (8 miles north of Brooksville.) AT BROOKSVILLE

BROADNAX (Near Chickuchatty, Brooksville.)
(ASPMA VII) (Cohen, M.)

LINDSAY (6 miles north of Brooksville)
(Westcott's Map, 1857.)

PLENTIFUL (Between Warm Springs and Hernando
County Courthouse) (Resolution of
the Legislative Council February 28, 1844, in
Acts of Legislative Council, 1844.)

TAYLOR (About 6 miles south of Brooksville.)
(Westcott's Map, 1857.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(HIGHLANDS COUNTY)

BASSINGER
(Near Ft. Bassinger P. O., on the west bank of the Kissimmee river) (Davis Map, 1858.)

JOSEPHINE
(Between Avon Park and Sebring) (Lat. 27 30' Long 81 30') (Heitman.)

KISSIMMEE
(6 miles southwest of Silvia P. O.)
(Mackay & Blake, 1839) (Davis Map, 1858.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY)

ALABAMA (Two miles west of Crystal Springs) (Williams Map, 1837.)

BROOKE (In Tampa, Est. 1821) (Davis Map.)

DOUNE (c. 4 miles west of Tampa) (Drakes Map 1840.)

FOSTER (c. 4 miles W SW of Crystal Springs) (Williams' Map, 1837) (On south bank of the Itoepucksassa river) (Fla. Dept. of Agr., Map, 1925.)

REDOUBT FRASER (Near Tampa, on the Old Fort King road) (Williams' Map, 1837.)

CAMP GALT (Near Tampa) (Heitman.)

HITCHEPUCKASSA (Ft. Sullivan) (Near Crystal Springs) (Lat. 28 08' Long. 82 10') (Heitman.)

CAMP RODGERS (At Ybor City) (Heitman.)

SHELTON (Near Limona) (Cohen, B. & H. Map.)

SULLIVAN (About 4 miles north of Winston) (Mackay, 1839.)

THLONOTOSASSA (Near Thlonotosassa) (Near Plant City) (ASPMA VII 839.)

TOCOBAGA (At the north end of Tampa Bay) (Arredondo's Map.)

DADE NEW FORT ON EGMONT KEY (85 MILES FROM TAMPA)

DESOLO - MULLET KEY (34 MILES FROM TAMPA)

RUSSELL - FORT AT ORANGE LAKE CREEK GEN TAYLOR STATE MAP 1839 SIX MILES FROM TAMPA

BIRCHSTED BATTERY (AT FORT DADE)

LAIDLEY BATTERY (AT FORT DADE)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(INDIAN RIVER COUNTY)

AYS (AIS)  
(Ys) (Blockhouse, one mile east of Oslo)  
(Est. ante. 1860) (Arredondo.)

VINTON  
(About 18 miles northwest of Oslo)  
(Davis Map, 1858.)

**FORMERLY CALLED NUMBER 2 FORT**
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(JACKSON COUNTY)

MARIANNA  (Fort at Marianna) (Heitman.)

SCOTT    (Lat. 30 45' Long. 85 00')
          (Near Grand Ridge) (Heitman.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(JEFFERSON COUNTY)

CLARKE

(6 miles northeast of Mandalay on the Ocilla river) (Top. Engrs. Map, 1857.)

GAMBLE

(Near Mandalay, thirty miles southeast of Tallahassee) (Sprague.)

ROBERT GAMBLE

(9 miles southwest of Monticello and 28 miles from Tallahassee) (Sprague.)

ROGER JONES

(On the Wacissa river east of Fanlew, Mackey and Blake, 1839.)

OCILLA

(Near Lamont, Lat. 30° 15' Long. 84° 03') (Mackey and Blakes Map, 1839.)

THREE MIDDLE FLA.

(West of Ocilla river near Lamont) (Lat. 30° 22' Long. 83° 52') (Heitman.)

WACISSA

(About 5 miles west of Aucilla) (Drakes Map, 1840) (Mackey and Blakes Map, 1839) (Lat. 30° 15' Long. 82° 50') (Heitman.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(LAFAYETTE COUNTY)

ATKINSON  (Fort at Charles Ferry, 3 miles west of Dowling Park) (Mackey & Blake, 1839.)

BAKER  (On Steinhatchee river, Lat. 29 55', Long. 83 15', Land Office Map, 1883.)

BARKEE  (At Steinhatchee Springs, Drakes Map, 1840) (Probably Fort Barker, Chaffer.)

BARKER  (At Steinhatchee Springs) (Westcott's Map, 1857.) ON STEINHATCHEE RIVER

BUCKEYE  (Tanners Map, 1850, also Top. Engrs. Map, 1856) (Near Steinhatchee Springs.)

DOWNING  (Near Downing P. O., Top. Engrs. Map, 1856.)

MACOMB  (Below Charles Ferry on west bank of the Suwannee river) (Colton's Map, 1855.)

NINE - MIDDLE FLORIDA  (Near Mayo in Lat. 30 05', Long. 83 15'.)

PARKER  (At Cook's Hammock near Steinhatchee) (Lat. 29 55', Long. 83 20') (Heitman.)

SEVENTEEN - EAST FLORIDA  (South of the Suwannee river near Mayo) (Heitman.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(LAKE COUNTY)

BUTLER
(At Astor) (Top. Engrs. Map, 1846.) Opposite Volusia ST. JOHN'S RIVER

MASON
(3 miles north of Lake Eustis) (Top. Engrs. '46.) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.) 14 mi S.W. Volusia

PENTON
(Lat. 28 30' Long. 81 44') (Heitman.)
(Near Clermont.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(LEE COUNTY)

CASEY  
(On the east central part of Cayo Costa, in the mouth of Charlotte Harbor.)  
(U. S. Coast Survey Chart, 1856.)

DULANEY  
(At Punta Rassa) (Ives, Davis Map, 1858.)

HARVIE  
(Near Halgrim, present site of Ft. Myers.)  
(Sprague.)

MYERS  
(Formerly Ft. Harvie) (At Ft. Myers)  
(Davis Map, 1858.)

SAN ANTONIO  
(Calos, Carlos) (On southeast bank of Charlotte Harbour, Est. 1567) (Kenny, Col. Laurence Martin's Map.)

CAMP WALBACK  
(Near Ft. Myers, Est. Dec. 27, 1856)  
(Abandoned Jan. 1, 1857) (Heitman.)

CAMP DANIELS (NEAR FORT MYERS)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(LEON COUNTY)

BRADEN
(Near Holland) (Johnson’s Map, Atlas, 1850.)

HARRIETT
(Harriot)
(Seventeen miles northwest of St. Marks)

HARRELL
(Seven miles southwest of Tallahassee)

HARRIOLIZ
(Nine miles southwest of Tallahassee)

JACKSONS BLUFF
(Near Tallahassee, Est. 1840)

JACKSON FORT
(Ten miles north of St. Marks) (Mackey and Blakes Map, 1839.)

MACOMB

ONE - MIDDLE
FLORIDA
(Ft. Macombon, St. Marks river) (Ten miles north of St. Marks, Lat. 30 19' Long. 84 18') (Heitman.)

SAN LUIS DE
APALACHE
(In Tallahassee) (FSHB, VI. No. 2.)

TWO - MIDDLE
FLORIDA
(South of Rose P. O., on St. Marks river)

ST. AUGUSTINE FORT - EAST OF TALLAHASSEE, 9 MILES
OF FORT MACOMB (ARMY & NAVY CHRONICLE
Vol. 9, P. 121) COMMANDED BY CAPT. GARDINER
CO. "F," 1ST INF.
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(LEVY COUNTY)

HOLLOMAN or McLemore (A Blockhouse)
(On the Withlachoochee 5 miles east of Inglis on North bank of the river)
(Williams "East Florida," 1837.)

CEDAR KEY
(Ft. Wacasassa) (On Way Key, Top. Engrs. Map, 1846) (Sprague, p. 275.)

CLAY LANDING
(Blockhouse, 10 miles south of Ft. Fanning on the Suwannee river, Est. Aug. 31, 1837)
(ASPMA VII, 848.)

CLINCH
(Two miles southeast of Inglis) (Mackey and Blake, Map, 1839.)

EIGHT - EAST FLORIDA
(Ft. Wacasassa) (Lat. 29 31' Long. 82 50'.) (Heitman.)

FANNING
(Fannin) (c. 5 miles south of Wilcox on the east bank of the Suwannee river) (Lat. 29 35' Long. 32 58') (Top. Engrs., Map, 1856."

FOUR - EAST FLORIDA
(Near Cedar Keys) (Lat. 29 25' Long. 83 04') (Township Plats, U. S. Land Office, Museum Library) (Heitman.)

JENNINGS
(Near Wylly P. O.,) (Mackey & Blake Map, 1839.)

"K" DEPOT
(At Cedar Keys on mainland, Westcott, '55.)

CAMP MORGAN
(At Cedar Keys) (Sprague & Blake.)
<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>CANTONMENT MORGAN</td>
<td>(At Cedar Keys) (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>PALMETTO</td>
<td>(Now known as Ft. Fanning) (Sec 20 Tw. 10 R. 14, on the east bank of the Suwannee on or near the Downing Plantation, three miles south of Ft. Dabney) (Mcqueen Chaires, Old Town, Florida.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>READS DEPOT</td>
<td>(Ft. Clinch on the Withlacoochee, two miles southeast of Inglis on the Withlacoochee river) (Williams &quot;East Florida,&quot; 1837.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>THREE - EAST FLORIDA</td>
<td>(On Wacassassa Bay near the mouth of the Wacassassa river in Lat. 29 10' Long. 82 47') (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>WACAHOOTEE</td>
<td>(10 miles W. SW. of Micanopy) (Drake's Map, 1840) (Lat. 29 26' Long. 82 25') (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>WACASASSA</td>
<td>(Near Archer at head of the Wacassassa river) (Westcott's Map, 1857) (Hackett &amp; Blake, 1839) (Lat. 29 31' Long. 82 50') (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>WEKIVA</td>
<td>(Just above the mouth of Spring Creek) (Coe) (Lat. 29 15' Long. 82 53') (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(LIBERTY COUNTY)

BLOUNT
(Blount's Fort, Negro Ft., later Ft. Gadsden)
(Two miles southwest of Colington.) (Giddings, Joshua, "Exiles of Florida," n. p. 35.)

BRISTOL BLOCKHOUSE
(At Bristol, Est. 1840) (ASPM VI, Cohen.)

GADSDEN
(Where the 30th parallel crosses the Apalachicola river) (Williams Map, "West Florida," 1828.)
61 miles from the mouth of the Apalachicola river, 2 miles southwest of Colington. At the site of the Negro fort. (Laniers "Florida.")

NEGRO FORT
(Ft. Gadsden) (At Colington on the Apalachicola river) (Williams, "West Florida Map, 1828.")

OCKLOCKONY RIVER
(Fort on Ocklockony river, 30 miles from the sea near Smith Creek P. O.) (Heitman.)

PRESTON
(Near Bristol) (Westcotts Map, 1857.)

ERECTED 1814 BY LT. NICHOLAS
FLORIDA PORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(MADISON COUNTY)

HAMILTON  (Near Surmans, Lat. 30 30' Long. 83 50'.) (Official War Atlas, 1861) (Dickinson, J. J., C. S. A. History of Florida.)

JACKSON  (Twelve miles southwest of Ellaville) (Lat. 30 20' Long. 83 33', Mackey and Blake, Map, 1839.)

JONES  (Near Lamont on east bank of the Aucilla river, Heitman.)

SAN PEDRO  (Due south of Madison on the military road) (Green, Edwin, "History of Florida," Map.)

VOSE  (On Aucilla river, about 4 miles northwest of Lamont, Lat. 30 25' Long. 83 45') (Heitman) (32 miles from Tallahassee on Ocilla river) (Sprague.)
CAMP ARMISTEAD (Lat. 27° 29' Long. 82° 31') (Heitman.)

BRADEN CASTLE (At Bradentown) (McDuffie, L., "Lure of Manatee."

CRAWFORD (12 miles east of Manatee) (Davis Map.)

HAMER (LLAMER) (Near the mouth of the Manatee river) (Heitman ap. Ives.)

LLAMER (On Manatee river opposite Belk P. C.) (Davis Map, 1858.)

STARKE (Near the mouth of the Manatee river) (Heitman.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(MARION COUNTY)

BLODGETT

(Camps) (On west bank of the Withlacoochee river at the site of Scott's battles, March 29, 1836.) (Burgess & Honour's Map, 1836, Cohen.)

DRANE

(10 miles south of Micanopy) (Drake's Map, 1840.)

FIVE - EAST FLORIDA

(4 miles west of Lake De Laney in the north end of the Ocala National Forest, Lat. 30° 03' Long. 82° 28'.) (Heitman.)

FOWLE

(Near Connor) (Drake's Map, 1840) (Lat. 29° 15' Long. 81° 58') (Heitman.)

GATES

(Near Eureka) (P. O. Map, 1876) (Lat. 29° 25' Long. 81° 50') (Heitman.)

GRAHAM (Camp)

(Major Leigh Reads Depot near Dunnellon) (Heitman.)

HOOK

(Post No. 2 East Florida) (Near Fellowship) (Drake's Map, 1840.) 20 M FROM FORT KING

IZZARD

(Izzard) (Near Gaiter P. O.) (Westcott's Map, 1858) (Also Mackay & Blakes Map, 1839.)

KING


LANG SYNE (Camp)

(Blockhouse) (Near Ft. Drane, 10 miles south of Micanopy) (Heitman.)
FLORIDA PORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(MARION COUNTY) Cont'd.

MACKAY

(10 miles south of Orange Springs on the west bank of the Ocklawaha) (Lat. 29 20' Long. 82 07') (Mackay & Blake's Map, 1839.)

MoODY

(Northeast of Ocala on Ocklawaha river) (P. O. Map, 1876.) Now Town of

McINTOSH

(Near McIntosh P. O. at "Oaklands" plantation) (Williams, "East Florida," 1837.)

LITCHELL

(Near Lake Bryant) (FSHB VIII, 145.)

OAKLAND

(At McIntosh, 5 miles from Ft. Drane) (Lat. 26 20' Long. 81 32') (Burgess & Honour's Map, 1836.)

ONE - EAST

(At McIntosh) (Drake's Map, 1840.)

FLORIDA

(Lat. 29 10' Long. 82 13') (Heitman)

(Two) (Between Micanopy and Ft. Drane) (Drake's Map)

THREE

(Near Ft. King) (Heitman) (Drake's Map, 1840.)

(Two) (Probably Wacahoota.)

TWO - EAST

(Ft. Hook) (Lat. 29 12' Long. 82 31')

FLORIDA

(About three miles southwest of Romeo) (Heitman.)

WHEELOCK

(South shore of Orange Lake) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(MARTIN COUNTY)

DUNN

(At the intersection of the military road and Ft. Dunn Creek.) (Knock-about Club in the Everglades, 1880.) (P. O. established here in 1887 at the old fort near the Indian river.) (Elliott, E. J., "Encyclopedia of Florida," 1889.)

McRAE

(McRee) (Near Port Mayacca - Ives Report, 1865) p. 41 (On Lake Okeechobee.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(MONROE COUNTY)

AD AIR BATTERY (Near Fort Taylor, Key West) (Authority - Heitman, Historical Register and Dictionary of U. S. Army, 1903, II, 475.)

ADVANCE TOWERS (Near Key West) (Heitman, F. B.)

CO VINGTON BATTERY (At Ft. Taylor, Key West) (Heitman.)

CROSS (At Palm Point near Middle Cape, Lat. 25 10' Long. 81 15') (Heitman.)

DE LEON BATTERY (At Key West) (Heitman.)

DILWORTH BATTERY (Near Ft. Taylor, Key West) (Heitman.)

INDIAN KEY (Naval Depot on Indian Key) (Ives.)

J EFFERSON (On Dry Tortugas) (Coast Survey.)

MARTELLO TOWER (At Key West) (Heitman.)

MOULDER (Camp) (10 miles south of Chokoloskee) (Heitman.)

POINSETT (At Cape Florida) (Davis Map, 1858.)

TAYLOR (At Key West) (Colton's Map, 1855.)

TEGESTA (At Cape Sable) (Arredondo's Map) (Kenny.)

TORTUGAS (50 miles west of Key West) (Coe.)

WESTCOTT (About 5 miles southeast of where the 25 30' Parallel crosses the 81st. Meridian) (Davis Map) (Lat. 25 30' Long. 80 50') (Heitman, ap. Ives.)

GARDINER BATTERY (FORT TAYLOR)

OCEOLA BATTERY (KEY WEST)

SEMINOLE BATTERY (CAPE SABLE)

POINSETT FORT (CAPE SABLE)
**FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860**

(NASSAU COUNTY)

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>BARRINGTON</td>
<td>(Near Kings Ferry, Est. 1765) (Rerick, R. H., &quot;Memoirs of Florida&quot; 1, 88.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>CARLOS</td>
<td>(North central waterfront of old Fernandina)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>(Jeffery's Map in Roberts &quot;Florida,&quot; 1763.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>CHURCH</td>
<td>(At Fernandina) (Lat. 30° 45' Long. 81° 30')</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>(Heitman, F. B., &quot;Register and Dictionary of the U. S. Army, 11, 475 et seq.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>CLINCH</td>
<td>(At Old Fernandina) (Top. Engrs., Map, 1846.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McINTOSH</td>
<td>(South bank of St. Marys river at Kings Ferry) (Siebert in &quot;Loyalists of Florida.&quot;)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>PINCKNEY</td>
<td>(On Little Trout Creek between Orange Bluff and Calico Hill) (Norton's &quot;Hand Book of Florida,&quot; p. 132.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SAN CARLOS</td>
<td>(At Old Fernandina facing the harbor)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>FSHB VII, No. 1.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SAN FELIPE</td>
<td>(North end of Amelia Island) (Kimber.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SANTA MARIA</td>
<td>(North central part of Amelia Island, Spanish military headquarters on Amelia Island up to 1686) (Kenny p. 143 note.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SPANISH FORT</td>
<td>(South bank of the St. Marys river) (Roberts, 1763.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>TONYN</td>
<td>(On site of Ft. Clinch, Fernandina)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>(Wallace's Map, 1775, in Barrs &quot;East Florida Loyalists.&quot;)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

*IN GEORGIA ON NORTH BANK OF ST MARYS RIVER JUST ABOVE POINT PETRA ST GEORGE ON AMELIA ISLAND*
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(NASSAU COUNTY) Cont'd.

WILLIAM (South bank of Cumberland Island opposite Fernandina) (Arredondo, (Roberts.)

WRIGHTS FORT (On St. Marys river) (Siebert, "Loyalists in Florida.")
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(ORANGE COUNTY)

CHRISTMAS
(2 miles east southeast of Lake Pickett on the south bank of Christmas Creek)
(Also called Ft. Christian by Williams)
(Top. Engrs. Map, 1846.)

McNEILL
(McNeil, McNeal) (One mile northwest of Lake Poinsett) (Westcott's Map, 1857.)

MAITLAND
(West bank of Lake Maitland) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(OSCEOLA COUNTY)

DAVENPORT (Two miles northeast of Loughman) (Top. Engrs. Map, 1856.)

MoCLINTOCK (6 miles southwest of Lake Tohopekaliga) (Colton's Map, 1855.)

CAMP MORRIS (On Lake Tohopekaliga) (Heitman.)

TAYLOR (In northeast corner of county, on the north bank of Wolf Creek) (FHSB, VII, No. 1 p. 96 et seq.) (West central part of Township 20 south, Range 34 east, and about one mile west of Lake Winder.) (Top. Engrs. Map, 1846.)

FORT GATLIN BETWEEN FORT DAVENPORT IN OSCEOLA CO. AND FORT MAITLAND IN ORANGE CO. (ON WATERMELON LAKE)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(OKEECHOBE AREA)

DRUM
(20 Miles north of Okeechobee City)
(Ives, Davis Map, 1858.)

LLOYD
(Loyd) (8 miles northeast of Okeechobee City) (Davis Map, 1858.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(PALM BEACH COUNTY)

JUPITER
(Half mile from Old Fort Jupiter on the eastern point formed by Jones Creek and Jupiter river.) (Ives Report, p. 10, 1858.)

OLD FORT JUPITER
(On the western point formed by the junction of Jupiter river and Jones Creek) (Ives Report, 1858.) 3 M. FROM JUPITER INLET
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(PASCO COUNTY)

BROOME

(1½ miles southeast of Dade City) (Statement of Rev. Isaac Rialls, Zephyr Hills, Fla., who was a refugee there in 1856.)

CHISHOLM

(3 miles north of where the Fort King military road crossed the Tatsala river) (Burgess & Honours Map, in Cohen's "Florida and the Campaigns," 1836.)

CROSS

(6 miles west of Dade City) (Drake's Map, 1840)

DADE

(2 miles southwest of Dade City) (Mackay & Blake's Map, 1839.)

TYLER

(At north central edge of county) (Fisk and Russell Map in "Ramblers Guide to Florida.")
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(PINELLAS COUNTY)

HARRISON (West part of Clearwater Island) (Top. Engrs. Map, 1856.)

"m. HENRY HARRISON (In the northwest corner of Harbour Oaks Park) (Coast Survey, 1860.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(PUTNAM COUNTY)

BROOK
(5 miles east of Orange Springs) (Mackay & Blakes Map, 1839.)

BROOKS
(Near Johnson City) (Drake’s Map, 1840.)

NEW BUENA VISTA
(Opposite Palatka) (Vigneoles, p. 71-79.)

FULTON
(West bank of Crescent Lake near Pomona)
(Lat. 29° 36' Long. 81° 31') (Heitman.)

GALE
(Heitman) (Otherwise unlocated) (Chaffer.)

GATES
(Opposite Fruitland) (Drake’s Map, 1840.)

HOLMES
(11 miles southwest of Palatka) (U. S. Coast Survey, 1864.)

JOE GRES
(Joe Grays) (Near Palatka) (ASPPL, III, 706.)

LAWSON
(3 miles west southwest of Palatka) (Mackay & Blakes Map, 1839.)

MOCASSON BRANCH
(Near Orange Mills P. O.) (ASPMA VII, 847.)

PILATKA
(At Palatka, Jesup’s Ordnance Depot, 1837)
(Mackay & Blake, 1839.)

SHANNON
(At Palatka) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.)

TEN - EAST
(Near south bank of Grandin Lake, near Hollister)
(Lat. 29° 40' Long. 81° 50')
(Heitman.)

FORTS—(By Dyer)

HUNTER—AT PALATKA 1/2 MILES DUE SOUTH
RUSSELL—AT PALATKA 3 MILES S.WEST
PALATKA ORDNANCE DEPT
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(POLK COUNTY)

ALAFIA  (Near Baird) (P. O. Map, May 1860.)

ARBUCKLE  (1 mile east of Lake Arbuckle) (Jefferson Davis Map, 1858.)

BLOUNT  (At Bartow, Est. c. 1857) ("History of Folk County," ap F. A. Hendry.)

CARROLL  (c. 3 miles northeast of Bartow) (Davis Map, 1858.) ON PEASE CREEK

CLINCH  (Northwest shore of Lake oocha Popka, near Frostproof) (Davis Map, 1858.)

CUMMINGS  (West shore of Lake Aretta) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.) LAT. 28° 15' LONG. 81° 35'

FRASER  (Near Haskell, southwest corner of Lake Hancock) (Davis Map, 1858.) ON PEASE CREEK

GARDINER  (Near Rosalie P. O.) (Davis Map, 1858.)

GIBSON  (Near Ft. Meade on Pease Creek) (Traditional in the Tillis family) (Charles Tillis, Frostproof, Fla.)

MEADE  (West bank of Pease Creek at Ft. Meade) (Ives '58.) NOW TOWN.
FLORIDA Forts Established Prior to 1860

(SANTA ROSA COUNTY)

CAMERON BATTERY  (Near Ft. Pickens on Santa Rosa Island)  (Gardner's Dictionary of the U. S. Army, 1858.)

EL PRINCIPE D'ASTRUIAS  (On Santa Rosa Island on the present site of Ft. Pickens.) (Also called Ft. Prince and Ft. Siguenza.) (Williams, J. L., "West Florida," 1828.)

PICKENS STATION  (West end of Santa Rosa Island, east of the pass to Pensacola Bay.) (Top. Engrs. 1856.)

ROSA  (West end of Santa Rosa Island) (Heitman.)

SANTA MARIA DE GALVEZ  (Opposite the west end of Santa Rosa Island) (Roberts; Jeffery's May, 1763.)

SANTA ROSA  (West end of Santa Rosa Island) (Roberts, 1763.)

SIGUENZA  (Santa Rosa Island) (Lat. 30° 15' Long. 87° 15') (Heitman.)

SOMBRERO  (Near west end of Santa Rosa Island, Est. 1869.) (Williams "West Florida," 1869.)

LINCOLN BATTERY - (SANTA ROSA ISLAND)

MORENO POINT RESERVATION - AT ENTRANCE TO SANTA ROSA SOUND
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(SARASOTA COUNTY)

ARMISTEAD (F. B. HEITMAN.)
FLORIDA PORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(SEMINOLE COUNTY)

CONCORD  
(At north end of Lake Concord, Fern Park - Mr. Dan Hooker's statement, his father Wm. Hooker of Aaron Jernigan's command was a member of the garrison.)

CAMP PANNING  
(Camp Monroe, Ft. Mellon, Ft. Gaines)  
(At Old Mellonville, Sanford) (Williams, 1837.)

GAINES  
(Camp Monroe, Camp Fanning, Ft. Mellon)  
(At Sanford on the south bank of Lake Monroe) (Brinton, D. G., in his "Florida and the South," 1869, in a map showing the St. Johns Valley, by E. Herline, Lithographer, 630 Chestnut St., Philadelphia.)

LANE  
(2 miles east of Geneva on Lake Harney)  
(Top. Engrs., 1896.)

MELLON  
(South bank of Lake Monroe in Sanford)  
(Mackay & Blake's Map, 1839.)

CAMP MONROE  
(South of Lake Monroe) (Williams) (Later this post was Camp Fanning and Ft. Mellon.)

READ  
(About two miles south of Ft. Mellon in Sanford) (Land Office Map, 1857.)

REED  
(At Sanford) (Heitman.)

TOWN NEAR LAKE MELLON

SOUTH OF SANFORD
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(ST. LUCIE COUNTY)

CAPRON (c. 3 miles north of Ft. Pierce, on the west bank of the Indian river) (Davis Map, 1858.)

PIERCE (At Ft. Pierce) (Davis Map, 1858.)

VAN SWEARINGEN (About 8 miles east of Okeechobee City.) (Ives, Davis Map, 1858.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(ST. JOHNS COUNTY)

BROWN
(Ten miles east of Palatka) (Sprague.)

BEUNA VISTA
(One mile south of Little Grove) (ASPPL IV, p. 627.)

CARTEL
(Quartel) (One mile north of St. Anastasia Island; Est. 1575) (Bowen's Map in Arredondo's "Spains Title to Georgia.")

DIEGO
(San Diego) (Near Palm Valley) (20 miles north of St. Augustine) (Roberts, Jeffery's Map, 1763.)

EDGEFIELD
(5 miles southwest of Summer Haven) (Burgess & Honours Map, Cohen, 1836.)

ELROSARIO
(In St. Augustine, west end of R. G. Park) (Ranson, Robert.)

EUSTIS CAMP
(At St. Augustine) (Cohen.)

GEORGE
(Ft. Marion, Ft. San Marco, Ft. St. Augustine) (So called during the Revolutionary War, 1775 et seq.) (Siebert "Loyalists of Florida.")

HANSON CAMP
(12 miles southwest of St. Augustine) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.)

HANSON
(Near Byrd P. O.) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.)

HARNEY
(5 miles southwest of St. Augustine.)

LEWIS
(In west part of St. Augustine) (Ledyard Bill, 1868.)

LITTLE FORT
(4 miles south of St. Augustine) (Roberts; Jeffery's Map, 1763.)
<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Notes</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>MARION (San Marco, George)</td>
<td>(Williams Map, 1837.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MATANZAS</td>
<td>(18 miles south of St. Augustine in Matanzas Inlet)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MOOSA</td>
<td>(Two miles north of Castle at St. Augustine)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Moultrie (Camp)</td>
<td>(On Moultrie Creek, 4 miles south of Matanzas Inlet)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>New Hope (Camp)</td>
<td>(On the St. Johns river)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Negro Fort</td>
<td>(Ft. Moosa) (two miles north of Ft. Marion)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>New Switzerland</td>
<td>(Opposite mouth of Black Creek)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Peyton (1)</td>
<td>(5 miles southeast of St. Augustine)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Peyton (2)</td>
<td>(On Anastasia Island)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Peyton (3)</td>
<td>(On Moultrie Creek)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Peyton (4)</td>
<td>(17 miles southwest of St. Augustine on Pelecier Creek)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Posa</td>
<td>(On Anastasia Island)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Quartel</td>
<td>(Cartel) (North bank and opposite the north entrance to Matanzas river - north of Anastasia Island)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(ST. JOHNS COUNTY) Cont'd.

ST. JOHNS (San Marco) (Siebert "Loyalists in East Florida.")

SAN AUGUSTINE (On the north end of Anastasia Island)

EL VIEJO (FSHB IV, No. 2 Jeanette Thurber Connor.)

SAN DIEGO (Diego, San Diego) (Twenty miles north of St. Augustine) (Kimber "A Late Expedition" etc.) Near Palm Valley. (Williams.)

DE SPINOZA (North shore of the Inlet north of Anastasia Island) FSHB, IV No. 3) (Kenny p. 25 Note.)

SAN MARCO (Ft. Marion) (In St. Augustine.)

SEARLE (6 miles east of Picolata - 11 miles west of St. Augustine) (Brooks, Abbie M. "Petals Plucked from Sunny Climes")

WEEDMAN (Weedman, Weeden) (Five miles west of St. Augustine) (ASPMA VII, p. 847.)

ST AUGUSTINE NATIONAL CEMETRY
ST. FRANCIS BARRACKS - ST AUGUSTINE
SAN MICHAEL CASTLE - ST AUGUSTINE
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(SUMTER COUNTY)

ARMSTRONG

(1 mile south of Bushnell, Dade's battlefield) (Williams, 1837.)

MCCLURE

(At Warm Springs) (Mackay & Blake's Map, 1839.)

C R U M

ABOUT 5 MILES NORTH OF BUSHNELL

DADE (OLD FORT) ON WITHLACOOCHEE RIVER, 45

MILES FROM TAMPA BAY. 13 MILES FROM DADE'S BATTLEGROUND.
FLORIDA FOR TS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(SUWANNEE COUNTY)

EAGLE

(Colton's Map, 1855, in Bureau of Immigration Report by Dennis Eagan, Florida's Commissioner of Immigration in 1868.)

SIXTEEN - EAST FLORIDA

(Lat. 30 04' Long. 32 50', about 8 miles west of Obrion.) (Heitman.)

TWENTY - EAST FLORIDA

(South bank of Suwannee river about 5 miles west of White Springs) (Lat. 30 20' Long. 32 50') (Heitman) (Ft. Cass?)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(TAYLOR COUNTY)

ANDREWS
(4 miles southwest of Hampton Springs) (Westcott's Map, 1855.)

AYAVALIA
(5 miles northwest of Hampton Springs, established ante 1700) (Handbook of American Indians, Bureau of Ethnology, 11, 122.) (Kenny, Michael (SJ) ap. Spanish Record, Arredondo.)

FRANK BROOK
(On Deadmans Bay near Stephensville, at the mouth of the Steinhatchee river) (Drakes Map, 1840.)

ECORFINEE
(Near Waylonzo, on Econfinee river five miles from its mouth) (Lat. 30 05' Long. 83 55') (Heitman.)

EIGHT - MIDDLE FLORIDA
(Lat. 30 10' Long. 83 27') (Near Perry) (Heitman.)

ELEVEN - MIDDLE FLORIDA
(Lat. 29 46' Long. 83 31'.)

FOUR - MIDDLE FLORIDA
(Surman's) (Ebb P. O.) (Lat. 30 24' Long. 83 34') (Heitman.)

HULBERT
(6 miles W. SW Athena) (No. 117) (Westcott's Map, 1857) (Lat. 29 46' Long. 83 34'.)

MITCHELL
(Lat. 30 03' Long. 83 40') (Johnson's Map, 1855.)

MITCHELL
(On Fenholloway river about 6 miles north of Sadler P. O.) (Westcott's Map, 1857.)
FLORIDA PORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(TAYLOR COUNTY) Cont'd.

NOEL  
(Number Three - Middle Florida) (Mackey and Blakes Map, 1839) (Near Covington on the Aucilla river, east bank) (Lat. 30 16' Long. 83 50').

PLEASANT  
(Pleasants) (East bank of Econfina) (Westcott's Map, 1857.)

SEVEN - MIDDLE FLA.  
(Near the Gulf between the mouths of the Fenholloway and Econfina rivers) (Lat. 30 00' Long. 83 53') (Heitman.)

TEN - MIDDLE FLORIDA  
(Near mouth of Spring Warrior Creek and near Sadler Station.) (Approximate bearings, Lat. 29 50' Long. 83 45') (Heitman.)

THIRTEEN - MIDDLE FLA.  
(North shore of Deadmans Bay near the mouth of the Steinhatchee and west of Stephensville) (Lat. 29 40' Long. 83 29') (Heitman) (Ft. Frank Brook ?)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(UNION COUNTY)

CALL

(4 miles northwest of Worthington Springs)
(Westcott's U. S. Land Office Map, 1857, in Report for 1858.)

CRABBE

(On New River in Lat. 29° 57' Long. 81° 15')
(Mackay & Blake Map, 1839.)

FIFTEEN - EAST FLORIDA

(On Swifts Creek, c. 4 miles northeast of Providence P. 0., in Lat. 30° 13' Long. 82° 28') (Heitman.)

WARD

(On south bank of Olustee Creek near Providence P. 0.) (Drake's Map, 1840) (Mackay & Blake, 1839) (Lat. 29° 56' Long. 82° 45') (Heitman.)
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(VOLUSIA COUNTY)

BARNWELL (At Volusia) (Potter p. 171.)

BULOW (At Bulow, Est. ante. 1835) (Cohen, Potter, Williams, "East Florida.")

CALL (At Old Volusia) (American States Papers, Military Affairs, VII, 830.)

COLUMBIA (At Old Volusia, Est. 1836) (Cohen, Meyer, M.)

DARLEY (On Darley plantation near Ormond) (Burgess & Honour's Map) (Cohen.)

DUNNLAWTON (Two miles west of Port Orange) (Williams Map, 1837.)

FLORIDA (Four miles north of Monroe P. O., at Fort Florida Landing on the St. Johns river on the east bank. Selected by General Winfield Scott as a depot) (ASPMA VII, 278.)

HENRY (Camp) (1 mile west of Port Orange) (Cohen.)

KINGSBURY (6 miles northeast of Sanford) (Lat 28 52' Long. 81 25'.) (Mackay & Blake, 1839.)

McCRAE (On the TOMOKA river) (Hawks Florida Gazetteer, 1871)

McCrae (At Daytona) (Burgess & Honour's Map, 1836 in Cohen.)

McLANE (Near Volco) (Top. Engrs. Map, 1846.)
### FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(VOLUSIA COUNTY) Cont'd.

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>MOSQUITO</td>
<td>(New Smyrna) (West bank of Halifax opposite Mosquito Inlet) (U. S. Coast Survey, 1864.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>NEW SMYRNA</td>
<td>(At New Smyrna) (Lat. 28° 54' Long. 81° 02') (Heitman.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>PRESTON</td>
<td>(At Spring Garden) (Potter p. 116.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SAN ANTONIO DE ANACAPE</td>
<td>(At Volusia) (Martin's Map.)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>VOLUSIA</td>
<td>(Call, Columbia, Barnwell) (On the east bank of the St. Johns river at Volusia) (Drake, IV. 137.)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(WAKULLA COUNTY)

APALACHE  (Near Bern, Est. 1689) (Arredondo's Map.)

JACKSON  (13 miles southwest of Tallahassee) (Heitman.)

LAWSON  (On the west bank of the Wakulla river northeast of Ivan P. O.) (Drakes Map, 1840.)

FORT LEON  (5 miles southeast of St. Marks) (U. S. Coast Survey Map, 1856.)

MANY  (Near Wakulla Springs) (Sprague) (Lat. 30 15' Long. 84 04') (Heitman.)

ST. MARKS  (At St. Marks) (Roberts.)

SAN MARCO  (Near St. Marks in the fork of the two rivers)

SAN MARCOS  (Roberts.) MOUTH OF OCKL o C K BASE RIVER

DE APALACHE  (Approximate bearings only) (Probably St. Marks) (Heitman.)

SIX - MIDDLE  (Lat. 30 09' Long. 84 05')

FLORIDA  (Drake's Map, 1840) (Three spellings of the same name - all three appear to be in Wakulla County on the Wakulla river about nine miles above St. Marks.) (Drake states it to be about 6 miles south of Tallahassee, this would be in Leon County.)

STANSBURY, FORT-WAKULLA RIVER 9 MI. ABOVE ST MARKS, (SEE STUSBURY ABOVE) 3 MI. W. OF FORT LAWSON (BRIG. GEN. TAYLOR 1849-1850) ARMY & NAVY CHRONICLE VOL. IX.
FLORIDA FORTS ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO 1860

(WALTON COUNTY)

ALAQUA

(Blockhouse) (One mile south of Portland.)
(McKinnon, J. C. "History of Walton County.")